1994

# Mauria T. Tanner (Swensen) v. James G. Swensen, Jr. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Whether the division of the marital property was equitable.
2. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in awarding alimony of \$700 per month for a two-year period.
3. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in imputing income from Tanner, Inc., as well as income from teaching Art classes in the past during the summer, for purposes of child support and alimony.
4. Whether the trial court abused it's discretion in using Ms. Tanner's interest in Tanner, Inc., in figuring child support and/or alimony.
5. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in finding that Ms. Tanner has the future capacity to earn \$20,000 a year in approximately two years.
6. Whether the court abused its discretion in not awarding attorney's fees.
7. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in not allowing Plaintiff's counsel to present a closing argument.

### **RULE 9(C)4: STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The facts which are material to the questions presented on this appeal are as follows:

1. The parties had a long-term marriage, approximately 19 years. They were married on the 22nd day of November, 1974, in Salt Lake City, Utah. (Record at 23, line 15)

2. The parties have four children. (Record at 21, line 13)

3. Mauria Tanner worked to help James Swensen, Jr. obtain two separate graduate degrees. (Record at 23, lines 18-25, Record at 24, line 1-6)

4. James Swensen, Jr., is currently a tax attorney as well as a Certified Public Accountant with a Masters Degree in Accountancy. (Record at 23 & 24)

5. Ms. Tanner has recently begun a graduate program which should be completed within two years with a Masters Degree in Expressive Therapy from the University of Utah. (Record 23, lines 1-10)

6. Ms. Tanner testified that in two years, she is hopeful that she might earn up to \$20,000 a year. (Record at 94, lines 2-4)

7. Mr. Swensen's projected annual income for the year of 1993 was \$67,500 (Defendant's Exhibit 2, page 0000043)

8. Ms. Tanner has, in the past, earned approximately \$1,500 a year for teaching Art in the summer time; however, she is not planning to continue this seasonal job as a result of her year-

round school obligation. (Transcript of Judge's Ruling, page 3, line 19)

9. Ms. Tanner owes her Father \$3,000, of which \$2,000 went to Attorney's fees. (Record 35, lines 13-18)

10. Ms. Tanner paid just under \$5,000 for Attorney's fees just prior to the loan from her Father. (Record at 35, lines 16-18)

11. Ms. Tanner owed approximately \$12,000 to law offices of present counsel. (Record 36, lines 17-20)

12. Ms. Tanner's lifestyle significantly altered since the separation. (Record at 39, lines 5-20)

13. The Tanner Corporation made disbursements for the purpose of paying the personal taxes of the parties. (Record at 48, lines 3-3)

14. Ms. Tanner had no control over any of the IRA's , retirement accounts, savings accounts, or other significant marital assets during separation - making no withdrawals from any of these accounts. (Record at 51, lines 23-25, Record at 52, lines 5-6)

15. Ms. Tanner never gave her permission to use or withdraw marital funds. (Record at 55, lines 1-2)

16. Mr. Swensen withdrew significant amounts from the marital IRA accounts during the separation. (Record at 53, lines 14-19)

17. Defendant/Appellee, James Swensen gave himself zero value

for furniture, he has in his possession, although he admits taking marital property. (Record at 152, lines 1-25, record at 153, lines 1-4, record 155, lines 1-25, and record at 156, lines 1-25)

18. Defendant/Appellee, James Swensen paid his personal legal fees from marital funds during the separation. (Record at 164, lines 11-15)

19. Defendant/Appellee, James Swensen used marital funds to pay off his student loans in the approximate amount of \$10,996. (Record at 168, lines 2-25)

20. Plaintiff's expert witness, a CPA, never received requested materials and relied upon Swensen's figure for values regarding Defendant's business. (Record at 7, lines 7-20, record at 16, lines 10-18, and record at 19, lines 20-25)

21. Ms. Tanner has received some monies on a periodic basis from Tanner, Inc., a family corporation. These disbursements have occurred approximately five times in 19 years. The amounts have varied. Ms. Tanner has generally received approximately \$2,000 in one year until several years ago when she received \$8,000 two years in succession. (Record at 50, lines 24-25, record at 51)

22. Ms. Tanner received these two \$8,000 amounts as a result of the sale of a trading post business. (Record at 48, lines 18-23, record at 50, lines 12-23)

23. The two previous disbursements from Tanner Inc. were \$2,000 and \$4,000 respectively. (Record at 49, lines 1-5)

24. These disbursements were generally intended to cover Ms. Tanner's allotted portion of the taxes for the family business. (Record at 50)

25. Ms. Tanner has been advised that she will not be receiving any more lump sum payments as large as the amount of \$8,000 in the future by her father, Mr. Maurice Tanner, the President of Tanner, Inc. Those larger \$8,000 amounts accrued solely as a result of the sale of the trading post business. (Record at 50, lines 12-33)

26. At trial, Plaintiff's counsel was not given the opportunity to present a closing argument to make the court aware of case law which pertained to the issues of fact and law before the court, (Record at 192, lines 20-24)

27. The trial court imputed income from sources no longer available to Ms. Tanner. (Record at 50, lines 12-33)

28. Ms. Tanner is planning to pursue a Ph.D. degree if possible. Such training will require approximately 7 years (2 years for the Masters' degree and an additional 5 years for the Ph.D.) (Record at 99, lines 20-25, record at 100, line 1)

29. Ms. Tanner was awarded alimony for 2 years (Transcript of



Judge's Ruling, pages 1 & 2)

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL**

The Standard of Review on Appeal is that the Appellate Court must reverse if there is a misapplication or misunderstanding of the law, if the evidence clearly preponderates against the findings or conclusions or if there is a serious inequity that must be rectified as set forth in English v. English, 565 P.2d 409, 410 (Utah 1977).

#### **ISSUES FOR REVIEW**

1. The division of the marital property was not equitable. Newmeyer v. Newmeyer, 745 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Utah 1987), stated that "in determining whether a certain division of property is equitable ... the relative abilities of the spouses to support themselves after the divorce are pertinent to an equitable...division of the fixed assets of the marriage".

Ms. Tanner contends that in the division of the property, the trial court did not take into consideration her special circumstances, i.e., her relative lack of work experience, and her full-time student status.

2. The court accepted values of property not consistent with the worth of the property if sold, causing an inequitable division of property.

3. The court's award of \$700 per month alimony for a two-year period is an abuse of discretion. Johnson v. Johnson, 855 P.2d 250, 214 Utah Adv. Rep. 41 (1994).

4. The court abused its discretion in imputing income from Tanner, Inc., as well as income from teaching Art classes in the summer as Ms. Tanner can no longer participate in that activity because of her participation in year-round schooling. Savage v. Savage, 658 P.2d 1201, (S. Ct. 1983). Weston v. Weston, 773 P.2d 408, 107 Utah Adv. Rep. 78. Ms. Tanner provided an accurate figure regarding income for the purposes of child support.

5. Ms. Tanner's interest in Tanner, Inc. qualifies as a pre-inheritance gift and the court abused it's discretion in utilizing the family corporation in figuring child support and/or alimony, as it was not income but a property interest.

- A. Ms. Tanner testified at trial that her brothers and sisters also received similar disbursements to hers.
- B. That the Tanner family corporation has been in place for approximately 35 years and it was in the form of pre-inheritance. (Record at 46, lines 16-21, record at 47, line 11, and record at 47, lines 24-25). Typically, inherited property will be awarded to the person who inherited it, even when the property was inherited years before the divorce.
- C. Newmeyer v. Newmeyer, 745 P.2d 1276 (Ut. 1987). If the court should determine that Tanner, Inc., was not pre-inheritance, it would be forced to admit that the Plaintiff's/Appellant's interest in the family corporation property was premarital property, at the very

least, an interest which had not been commingled into the marital estate, and one that was not augmented and/or maintained by the other spouse in any capacity. A court must find unique circumstances that warrant disregarding the general rule that premarital property is separate property. Waiters v. Waiters, 812 P.2d 64 (Ut. App. 1989).

6. The trial court abused its discretion in finding that Ms. Tanner could earn \$20,000 a year in two years, after she completed her schooling. It presumed that she will indeed complete the schooling, secure employment and earn that amount. Wiley v. Wiley, 227 Ut. Adv. Rep. 39 (1993), found such a finding improper.

7. The court abused its discretion in not awarding attorney's fees. Utah law provides that the award be based upon the need of the party seeking the award, and reasonableness of the fee sought. Huck v. Huck, 734 P.2d 417 (Ut. 1986). Sinclair v. Sinclair, 718 P.2d 396 (Ut. 1986). Pusey v. Pusey, 728 P.2d 117 (Ut. 1986). Rasband v. Rasband, 752 P.2d 1331, 1337 (Ut. App. 1988).

8. The court abused its discretion in not allowing Plaintiff's counsel to present argument and cases relevant to the matter at bar in closing argument. Bunnell v. The Industrial Commission of Utah, 740 P.2d 1331, 62 Utah Adv. Rep. 9 (1987).

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a divorce action involving the issues of alimony, property division, award of attorney fees and the related issues of pre-inheritance property assessed as income as well as the appropriateness of imputing income to Plaintiff/Appellant.

These matters were heard at trial before the Honorable J. Dennis Frederick in the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, on the 16th day of December, 1993.

The final order and Judgement in this matter was executed on the 22nd day of February, 1994.

Notice of Appeal was filed on the 4th day of February, 1994, pursuant to Utah Code Annotated, Section 78-2-2 (3)(j) and Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 3.

Ms. Tanner received alimony for a two year period in the amount of \$700.00, even though she had a long-term marriage of 20 years, had been married to a tax attorney and CPA, for whom she had worked in order that he receive his professional degrees and credentials.

The trial courts' holdings in regards to property division, alimony, attorneys fees, imputation of income from a family corporation, etc., caused the Plaintiff/Appellant to bring this appeal.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The assets of the marriage were not divided equitably. The Appellee during the term of marriage controlled all marital assets. Appellant had no access to marital funds during the pendancy, while Appellee used marital funds for his personal benefit such as his own attorney fees.

Newmeyer v. Newmeyer, 745 P.2d 1276, (Utah 1987) states that division of property must also take into consideration the earning capabilities of the parties, the ability of the parties to support themselves after the divorce as well as the amount of alimony awarded. The court did not properly consider the appellant's ability to earn a living regarding the property division, especially in light of the fact that the court awarded only \$700.00 a month alimony for a two year period, even though the Defendant/Appellee was a professional (tax attorney) and the marriage was of a long duration.

In addition, the alimony award was inequitable. The court did not take into consideration the factors in Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072 (Utah S.C. 1985).

The court improperly imputed income from pre-inheritance disbursements from Appellant's family in determining alimony even though the evidence indicated Appellant would not receive full

disbursements of said funds. The court also imputed income from Appellant's past participation in summer art classes, even though Appellant testified that as a result of her student status, she would no longer have an opportunity to teach those classes.

The trial court refused to award Plaintiff/Appellant her attorney fees even though the evidence indicated Defendant/Appellee used marital funds to pay his own attorney fees, and the evidence also indicated that Appellant was a full-time student without any income. In addition, Appellant testified she had borrowed monies to pay for fees and costs of the divorce action. The court's findings over-all demonstrated a general attitude of bias against Plaintiff/Appellant which prejudiced the Appellant's right to a fair and impartial trial.

POINT 1:

**DETAIL OF THE ARGUMENT**

The division of the marital property was not equitable.

**Newmeyer v. Newmeyer**, 745 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Utah 1987), states that:

(in) determining whether a certain division of property is equitable, neither the trial court nor this Court considers the property division in a vacuum. The amount of alimony awarded and the relative earning capabilities of the parties are also relevant, because the relative abilities of the spouses to support themselves after the divorce are pertinent to an equitable determination of

the division of the fixed assets of the marriage.

The trial court did not take the special circumstances of Ms. Tanner into consideration when making the property division. During the course of the marriage, the couple had four children, and Ms. Tanner worked in minor clerical jobs. After the family began to grow, Ms. Tanner worked only intermittently, usually teaching Art classes in the summer to neighborhood children. Her primary occupation, during the marriage, was raising children, caring for the needs of her husband, and running the couple's home. Ms. Tanner has no professional training and few marketable skills. Ms. Turner has no dependable outside income. As a result of the success of the law practice of Mr. Swensen, the couple enjoyed a very comfortable lifestyle. Ms. Tanner was awarded no income producing assets.

(Transcript of Judge's Ruling, page 3, lines 2-5)

Ms. Tanner was at a tremendous disadvantage regarding the marital property. She had no control over marital funds, during the marriage and/or the separation, nor investments, bank accounts and/or Real Property. Mr. Swensen controlled all of the assets - making deposits, withdrawals, investments at will, without permission from Ms. Tanner, and often without even informing her of any of these transactions. (Record at 51, lines 23-25; 52, lines 5-6; 55, lines 1-2; 53, lines 14-19; 48, lines 3-4; 164, 11-15; 168,

lines 2-25; 52, lines 1-25; and at 58, lines 23-20.

Ms. Tanner received some monies from Tanner, Inc., during the years of the marriage, but this money was intended to cover Ms. Tanner's allotted portion of taxes for the family business and was not intended to supplement her income. She has been informed by her father, Mr. Maurice Tanner, that she will not be receiving any more large disbursements of money from Tanner, Inc., similar to those she had in the recent past because those monies had come from the sale of a family business. Ms. Tanner has no current income that she can depend upon for support.

Mr. Swensen on the other hand, has a law degree and a degree in accounting. He is a successful tax attorney and a Certified Public Accountant. Mr. Swensen's projected annual income for the year of 1993 was \$67,000. (Defendant's exhibit 2, page 0000043)

The division of property as done by the trial court creates an inequity by dividing the property in such a way that Ms. Tanner does not have any income from the properties she received to support herself, yet Mr. Swensen has the benefit of the property he received and the degrees he holds to support himself.

In addition, the court accepted the values proffered on the exhibits as valid even though Defendant claimed a zero value. (Defendant's exhibit 1, page 000001) The testimony controverted



that assertion as Defendant had removed tools and furniture from the marital home. In addition, the court did not take into consideration the fact that Mr. Swensen used marital funds under his care, custody and control to pay his attorney fees and other personal expenses attributable to him, such as a \$10,996.00 student loan.

Ms. Tanner had no marital assets available to her during the pendency and was left with a substantial amount of costs and fees which the court ordered her to pay, some of which Ms. Tanner borrowed money to cover.

Ms. Tanner worked to support Mr. Swensen while he earned his degrees and yet an inequitable division of the property was performed leaving her without sufficient income to support herself in a manner approaching the standard of living reached during the marriage. There is not sufficient finding of fact to show that Ms. Tanner can support herself. There is sufficient findings to show that Mr. Swensen can support himself on his current income. The property division was not conducted in a manner that reflected the parties abilities to earn income and has created an inequitable situation that leaves Ms. Tanner without a means of supporting herself, and in debt.

**POINT 2:**

### ALIMONY ISSUE

The parties were married for twenty years. During the course of the marriage, the parties bought a home, had four children, and Mr. Swensen established a law practice specializing in tax law. During the early years of the marriage, Ms. Tanner worked in minor clerical jobs. After the family began to grow, Ms. Tanner worked only intermittently, usually teaching art classes in the summer to neighborhood children. Her primary occupation, during the marriage, was raising children, caring for the needs of her husband and running the couple's home.

In a divorce proceeding, the trial court may make such orders concerning property distribution and alimony as are equitable. U.C.A., 1953, § 30-3-5 (1984 ed.). See, e.g., Highley v. Highley, Utah, 676 P.2d 379, 382 (1983); Dority v. Dority, Utah, 645 P.2d 56, 59 (1982); English v. English, Utah, 565 P.2d 409, 410 (1977). The trial court must exercise its discretion in accordance with the standards that have been set by this Court. In the present case, we find that the trial court did not comply with those standards. Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072 (Ut. S.C. 1985) Id Page 2. The court only awarded alimony for a two year period, even though the evidence demonstrated

a substantial disparity in income between the parties, as well as the ability to produce income in the future; that Plaintiff contributed to the degrees of Defendant, by working while he was in graduate school and the marriage was of long duration - twenty years.

In Jones, the court describes the purpose of alimony:

[T]he most important function of alimony is to provide support for the wife as nearly as possible at the standard of living she enjoyed during marriage, and to prevent the wife from becoming a public charge. English v. English, 565 P.2d at 411. With this purpose in mind, the Court in English articulated three factors that must be considered in fixing a reasonable alimony award:

[1] the financial conditions and needs of the wife;

[2] the ability of the wife to produce a sufficient income for herself; and

[3] the ability of the husband to provide support."

Id at Page 4.

In the case at hand, nowhere in the trial court's decision, its findings of fact, or its statements made on the record at the conclusion of the hearing is there any indication that the court adequately analyzed the circumstances of the Jones case.

in light of these three factors. And our attempt to perform this analysis through a review of the record and evidence compels us to conclude that the trial court abused its discretion in fixing the alimony award. In addition, the record exemplifies the courts attitude about the Plaintiff, when the court commented after Plaintiff's/Appellants counsel requested that the court make Plaintiff a beneficiary, along with the children, on the life insurance policy of Defendant/Appellee, at least during the period she had a right to alimony. The court commented: "... I'm concerned about the protection of the children, not the protection of the Plaintiff here". Transcripts of (Judge's Ruling, page 7, lines 12-14)

The tone and tenor of the entire proceeding evidenced the court's lack of concern for Plaintiff's/Appellant's rights.

As in Jones, other than the assets awarded her in the property distribution, Ms. Tanner has no dependable outside income. As a result of the success of the law practice of Mr. Swensen, the couple, as did the parties in Jones, enjoyed a very comfortable lifestyle. In the instant case, as in Jones, the wife was awarded no income-producing assets.

It is almost certain that Ms. Tanner will be unable to maintain anything even approaching the standard of living she

enjoyed during the marriage, given the \$700 per month alimony awarded by the trial court for two years and the termination of that award at that time.

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