1994

Mauria Tanner (Swensen) v. James G. Swensen, Jr. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in its division of the marital property. The trial court has broad discretion in valuing and distributing marital property. Based upon the evidence presented, the trial court's award reflects an equitable division of the parties' marital estate, each party receiving one-half of the value of the marital property.

II. The trial court properly considered and applied the Jones factors in awarding alimony. Sufficient evidence exists to support the trial court's findings and application of all of the Jones factors including: (1) Ms. Tanner's financial condition and needs in light of the lifestyle she has enjoyed; (2) Ms. Tanner's ability to support herself; and (3) Mr. Swensen's ability to pay alimony.

III. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by imputing income to Ms. Tanner. Ms. Tanner's imputed income from teaching art classes and from Tanner, Inc. was soundly based upon her historical earnings, her education, her marketable skills, etc., as set forth in her testimony.

IV. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in assessing Ms. Tanner income received from her ownership interest in Tanner, Inc. The trial court properly awarded Ms. Tanner her eight percent (8%) ownership interest in Tanner, Inc. free and clear of any claim by Mr. Swensen and did not consider its value in awarding and dividing the marital property. However, the facts of Ms. Tanner's historical income from Tanner, Inc. clearly provided an evidentiary basis for recognizing her distributions as actual income received.

V. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by limiting the award of alimony to two years. The trial court carefully

weighed the Jones factors in its decision to limit Ms. Tanner's award of alimony to two years, using the evidence regarding her need, her ability to provide for her needs, and Mr. Swensen's ability to pay.

VI. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in its failure to award either party attorney's fees. The trial court made a specific finding that there was no evidentiary basis from which to award attorney's fees and that Ms. Tanner had sufficient assets with which to pay her own fees, and ruled accordingly. Also, Ms. Tanner paid approximately \$5,000 of her attorneys fees from marital property. Ms. Tanner received one-half of the marital estate, plus approximately \$36,758 in value from Tanner, Inc. together with an eight percent (8%) interest in the unknown value of 3,500 acres of real property, 150 head of beef cattle, and all income derived therefrom.

VII. There was no abuse of discretion in disallowing both parties' presentation of closing argument. The trial judge has discretion in allowing closing argument. Additionally, because neither party was allowed to present closing argument, Ms. Tanner could not have been unduly prejudiced.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ITS DIVISION OF THE MARITAL PROPERTY.

Trial courts have considerable discretion in creating equitable orders that divide marital property. Potter v. Potter, 845 P.2d 272 (Utah App. 1993); Roberts v. Roberts, 835 P.2d 193, 198 (Utah App. 1992); Munns v. Munns, 790 P.2d 116, 118 (Utah App. 1990). This Court stated: "[w]e afford the trial court considerable latitude in adjusting financial and property interests, and its actions are entitled to a presumption of validity." Watson, 837 P.2d at 5 (quoting Naranjo v. Naranjo, 751 P.2d 1144, 1146 (Utah App. 1988)). The overriding consideration in a divorce action "is that the ultimate division be equitable," not necessarily exactly equal. Id. at 6. In order for Ms. Tanner to prevail on the issue of an inequitable marital property division, she must show that the trial court committed a "clear abuse of discretion." Id. This Court has held that with regard to property division "on appeal from a judgment of the trial court, our role is not to substitute our own findings for those of the trial court, but to examine the record for evidence supporting the judgment." Baker v. Baker 226 Utah Adv. Rep. 27, 28 (Utah App. 1993) (quoting Shioji v. Shioji, 712 P.2d 197, 201 (Utah 1985)).

The Utah Court of Appeals has held that it is "inappropriate for this court to reverse on an isolated item of property or debt distribution. Further, this court must examine the entire distribution to determine if the trial court abused its discretion." Naranjo, 751 P.2d at 1148 (quoting Boyle v. Boyle, 735 P.2d 669, 670-71 (Utah App. 1987)). Therefore, a trial court's determination on any one issue of property or debt distribution is not necessarily grounds for reversal.

Ms. Tanner attacks the property division on the basis that the trial court accepted the values stated on Defendant's exhibits. However, "[w]hen considering testimony regarding valuation of property, the trial court 'is entitled to give conflicting opinions whatever weight [it] deems appropriate.'" Morgan v. Morgan, 854 P.2d 559, 564 (Utah App. 1993) (quoting Weston v. Weston, 773 P.2d 408, 410 (Utah App. 1989)). Based upon the evidence, the trial court specifically found Mr. Swensen's values of the marital property to be more credible and accepted those values.

The trial court found the expert testimony of Mr. Shields, Mr. Swensen's expert, regarding the value of Mr. Swensen's law practice more credible because Mr. Shields had experience in valuing sole law practitioners' business. (R. 116). Mr. Shields made an on-site visit to Mr. Swensen's firm to value equipment,

furniture, and fixtures. (R. 117). Mr. Shields considered such an on-site inspection of the property essential in an accurate valuation since one should consider the condition of the firm's equipment, furniture, and fixtures. (R. 120). In contrast to Mr. Shield's testimony, Ms. Tanner's expert failed to discount aged account receivables, although it was his general practice to do so. (R. 10). Moreover, Ms. Tanner's expert failed to physically inspect the property, had no personal experience in valuing a law firm, and prepared several other general valuations, some of which used improper basis for his different conclusions. (R. 8-10).

Respecting the distribution of the personal marital property, Mr. Swensen inspected the personal marital property at the Lincoln Lane residence several days before trial. (R. 110). He also valued the parties automobiles pursuant to their Blue Book values. Id. The value of the Lincoln Lane residence was based upon a recent real estate appraisal placed in evidence. (R. 112). Additionally, Mr. Swensen's proposed distribution did not value any assets which Ms. Tanner might have obtained through inheritance or gifts. (R. 187).

Ms. Tanner argues that the trial court accepted the values stated on Mr. Swensen's proposed property distribution even though Mr. Swensen claimed a zero value in personal property for

himself. Ms. Tanner ignores the fact that Mr. Swensen's testimony as to the proposed property distribution was the personal marital property in Ms. Tanner's possession had a net value of \$5,000 over the personal property to be awarded to Mr. Swensen. (R. 110). The trial court's valuation of the property is soundly based upon the evidence and should not be disturbed.

Ms. Tanner contends that the trial court did not take into consideration her "special circumstances" in dividing the real property. However, there is nothing in the record indicating that Ms. Tanner was the victim of special circumstances or required any special consideration.

Ms. Tanner argues that she does not have any income from the properties she received to support herself. There was no evidence that the marital property included any income producing property, nor did she request the same. The division of property need not provide Ms. Tanner with income producing property. Ms. Tanner has failed to provide any authority to support her argument that she must be awarded income producing assets.

Even so, Ms. Tanner has received income producing assets. Ms. Tanner has an eight percent (8%) interest in Tanner, Inc. from which she derives income. (Tr. 5). Ms. Tanner's ownership of Tanner, Inc. was awarded to Ms. Tanner as separate property and not as a distribution of marital property. Ms. Tanner

personally receives income from the sale of assets by Tanner, Inc. (R. 82-83). Ms. Tanner has an eight percent (8%) interest in the \$305,000 balance owing on the contract balance payable over a ten year period. Id. Further, Ms. Tanner was awarded one-half, or \$92,000, of the parties' marital property in assets from which she may generate income. Id. The property awarded to Mr. Swensen generates no income except for the work product from his professional practice. Including the Tanner, Inc. assets awarded to Ms. Tanner, after the divorce Mr. Swensen has a lesser net worth than Ms. Tanner.

Ms. Tanner contends that during the marriage she had no control or access to marital funds, apparently implying some inappropriateness on the part of Mr. Swensen. However, control of the marital assets is irrelevant in the award of the marital assets. This is particularly true in the present circumstances, since there is no evidence exists that the marital property was depleted because of Mr. Swensen's control.

Specifically, Ms. Tanner complains that Mr. Swensen used marital funds for the payment of his attorney's fees in the amount of \$3,000 - \$4,000. (R. 163). However, Mr. Swensen's attorney's fees were charged against his portion of the marital property and were not charged against Ms. Tanner's portion of marital property. The payment of attorney fees by Mr. Swensen

did not reduce the total marital property to be distributed between the parties since the amount paid was added into his share of the proposed distribution of property. (R. 185-186). Thus, Ms. Tanner's marital property distribution was not reduced by what Mr. Swensen paid in attorney's fees.

Ms. Tanner fails to note that prior to legal representation by Ms. McConkie, Ms. Tanner had access to marital funds and used those marital resources to pay legal fees to her former attorneys in the sum of at least \$5,000. (R. 67). Additionally, Ms. Tanner had a garage sale at the Lincoln Lane residence where marital assets were sold in order to pay for a self-esteem training course for Ms. Tanner. (R. 89). Accordingly, Ms. Tanner reduced the total marital estate to be divided.

Ms. Tanner also complains that Mr. Swensen paid off a student loan with marital funds. The student loan was a marital debt and legal obligation. Ms. Tanner testified at trial that she should bear one-half of the liability of marital debts and obligations. (R. 62). Therefore, it was appropriate to pay the student loan with marital property.

Ms. Tanner argues that Finlayson v. Finlayson controls. 874 P.2d 843, 849 (Utah App. 1994). However, the present case is distinguishable from Finlayson, where the Utah Court of Appeals held that the trial court abused its discretion in crediting the

husband's payments to his mother as a discharge of marital debt. In the Finlayson case there was dispute regarding whether the loan from the husband's mother was actually an enforceable debt or a gift. In the present case, there is no such controversy. The student loan discharged by Mr. Swensen was a legally enforceable contractual obligation to an independent third party, Student Loan Servicing Corporation, incurred during the marriage for the benefit of both parties.

The Court should note that the Appellant's Addendum C and D to her brief contains financial declarations which were prepared by the parties and filed with the trial court several months before trial. The financial declarations were not evidence introduced at trial. While untested financial declarations are an acceptable basis for temporary awards, trial evidence is the basis for making final awards.

The trial court's division and award of the marital property was well within the bounds of its discretion. Ms. Tanner received all of the equity in the Lincoln Lane residence. Pursuant to Ms. Tanner's own appraiser of the Lincoln Lane residence, there are no repairs needed on the house. (R. 80). In contrast, Mr. Swensen is presently renting an unfurnished house. (R. 142). Not only did Ms. Tanner received one-half of the parties' marital estate, she also received her eight percent

(8%) ownership interest in Tanner, Inc. free and clear of any claim by Mr. Swensen with significant value. Ms. Tanner actually received more than Mr. Swensen in tangible assets. Ms. Tanner has not met the burden of showing that "there was a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law resulting in substantial and prejudicial error, the evidence clearly preponderated against the findings, or such a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion." Watson, 837 P.2d at 5.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONSIDERED AND APPLIED THE JONES FACTORS IN AWARDING ALIMONY.

Trial courts have broad discretion in awarding alimony. In reviewing the trial court's award of alimony, the appellate court will not disturb the trial court's award absent a showing of clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion. Chambers v. Chambers, 840 P.2d 841, 843 (Utah App. 1992); Rasband v. Rasband, 752 P.2d 1331, 1333 (Utah App. 1988) (citing Paffel v. Paffel, 732 P.2d 96, 100 (Utah 1986)). Utah law requires that the trial court consider three factors in determining a reasonable award of alimony: (1) the financial condition and needs of the requesting spouse; (2) the ability of the requesting spouse to produce a sufficient income for herself; and (3) the ability of the responding spouse to provide support. Rasband, 752 P.2d at 1333

(citing Gardner v. Gardner, 748 P.2d 1076, 1081 (Utah 1988)); Olson v. Olson, 704 P.2d 564, 566 (Utah 1985); and Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072, 1075 (Utah 1985). These three factors are herein referred to as the "Jones factors" as identified in Appellant's brief.

If the trial court considered the Jones factors, the appellate court will not disturb the trial court's alimony award unless such a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion. Morgan, 854 P.2d at 567 (quoting Schindler v. Schindler, 776 P.2d 84, 90 (Utah App. 1989)); accord English v. English, 565 P.2d 409, 411-412 (Utah 1977); Rappleye v. Rappleye, 855 P.2d 260, 264 (Utah App. 1993).

First, the trial court considered Ms. Tanner's present financial condition and needs. The trial court found that Ms. Tanner had monthly expenses in the amount of \$2,885 per month and imputable income of \$1,000 per month. (Tr. 4). The trial court held that Ms. Tanner had a present need for alimony and awarded her \$700 per month for two years. (Tr. 4-5). Based upon Ms. Tanner's testimony regarding graduation with her Master's degree, the trial court found that Ms. Tanner required assistance for a two year period of time. Ms. Tanner testified that upon graduation she will earn \$20,000 per year. (R. 94). Ms. Tanner also testified that she pays off her credit cards

monthly and has no debt. (R. 60). Further, there is evidence that Ms. Tanner has disposable income. Ms. Tanner purchased a computer for \$1,500 (R. 63), voluntarily enrolled and paid for self-esteem training in the amount of \$2,800 (R. 88-89) for herself and her daughter, and gave charitable contributions in the amount of \$1,600. (R. 99).

Second, the trial court made findings regarding Ms. Tanner's ability to produce a sufficient income for herself. The trial court found that Ms. Tanner had actual income and imputable income in the amount of \$1,000 per month. The trial court computed Ms. Tanner's income by calculating (1) the \$8,000 she received from distribution of the family corporation, (2) the \$1,500 she is capable of earning teaching art classes in the summer, and (3) the \$2,500 she received as a student stipend. The trial court divided the 12,000 attributable as yearly income to Ms. Tanner to conclude that she had an income of \$1,000 per month. (Tr. 3).

Evidence in the records exists to establish that the trial judge considered Ms. Tanner's financial condition and ability to support herself. The record shows that Ms. Tanner received various distributions from Tanner, Inc. over the marriage including distributions of \$8,000 per year for each of the last two years, one distribution in the amount of \$4,000, and two

others in the amount of \$2,000 each. (R. 49, 74-75). Ms. Tanner owns an eight percent (8%) ownership interest in Tanner, Inc. valued at approximately \$36,758 plus an eight percent (8%) interest in the unknown value of 3,500 acres of real property and 150 head of beef cattle. (R. 84-86). The record shows that Ms. Tanner owns eight percent (8%) interest on the \$305,000 contract balance from Tanner, Inc.'s sale of a trading post payable over ten years. Id. The record is devoid of evidence that Ms. Tanner will not receive such distributions in the future.

Ms. Tanner is voluntarily enrolled in school and is voluntarily underemployed. (R. 60). She voluntarily elected not to teach the summer art classes that she taught in the past from which she received \$1,500 annual income. (R. 87).

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